IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Case #18-0654

FAYETTE COUNTY NOS. 18-F-19 and 18-F-20

DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE

FILE COPY

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,
Plaintiff, Respondent,
Vs.

DEAN E. GAMBLE SR.
Defendant, Plaintiff.

COVER PAGE



Pro-Se

SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF ON APPEAL

RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE

3(d)(2)

10(c)10(b)

Dean E. Gamble Sr.
Dean E. Gamble Sr.
Prepared by;
Dean E. Gamble Sr.
Pro-Se Litigant

ARGUMENT

(Motions Hearing Errors)

I. Judicial bias/Ineffective Assistance of Counsel; Timely Motions and Objections

The very first instance of Judicial bias and usurp of authority is in the **final order** of the Circuit Court where Judge Hatcher finds that there were no errors to present upon appeal and that it would be unethical to appoint counsel to represent the defendant, relieving counsel of record from any further representation of the defendant. An attempt to prevent review of the case and with a direct lie to the Supreme Court when the Judge claimed to have sentenced the defendant to concurrent sentences. The Judge knew or should have known of the law in this regard below.

The obligation of a court-appointed attorney to his client is not discharged merely by his informing such client of his determination that an appeal is without merit and frivolous; it is the appellate court, not counsel, **after a full examination of all the proceedings**, which makes that determination. *Turner v. Haynes*, 162 W. Va. 33, 245 S.E.2d 629, 1978 W. Va. LEXIS 307 (W. Va. 1978).

The lower Court was under an ethical obligation to dismiss the charges when he granted the Motion to Suppress the evidence and defense counsel was required to move to dismiss the charges as any reasonably prudent attorney would have done (Pp. 40 Lns. 22-24). The lower Court indicated (at Pp. 41 lines 17-23) [Judicial bias] in this Hearing that the State would have another opportunity to retest the packages, to the defendants prejudice where no objection was made and is another point of ineffectiveness. Deficient performance is shown from the deliberate failure to move to dismiss the charges after a successful Suppression Motion on the testing methods to prove the contents of the packages to contain a controlled substance. Counsels comment to '**dismiss**', made on the record of the Motions Hearing Transcripts (page 34, lines 14-18) at the time of the Motions/Suppression Hearing is indicative of counsels true knowledge to do so after the ruling was made on the Motion, (Pp. 40 Lns. 22-24). This is evidence of being

deliberately denied a fair trial with effective assistance of counsel, also indicative of a trial in concert with the Judge and Defense Counsel. "A deficient performance {2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27} is one in which counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment." Counsel did not defend the case.

"[w]here the record of a criminal trial shows that the cumulative effect of numerous errors committed during the trial prevented the defendant from receiving a fair trial, his conviction should be set aside, even though any one of such errors standing alone would be harmless error." Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Tyler G.*, 236 W. Va. 152, 778 S.E.2d 601 (2015)

Any reasonably prudent attorney would have objected to any second testing of evidence. This case doesn't have a large record for review and the points are clearly made and pointed to upon the record, and what is there, does meet the Strickland Test. How many errors are required to meet the Strickland test, and it has been suggested that two is not enough? But, petitioner Claims that one error can be sufficient if it is clearly wrong and affects the outcome of the proceedings.

In West Virginia, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are to be governed by the two-pronged test established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984): (1) Counsel's performance was deficient under an **objective standard of reasonableness**; and (2) there is a **reasonable probability that**, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). Further, an ineffective assistance of counsel claim may be disposed of for failure to meet either prong of the test. Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *State ex rel. Daniel v. Legursky*, 195 W. Va. 314, 465 S.E.2d 416 (1995); see also *State ex rel. Vernatter v. Warden, W. Va. Penitentiary*, 207 W. Va. 11, 17, 528 S.E.2d 207, 213 (1999) (citation omitted) ("Failure to meet the burden of proof imposed by either part of the *Strickland/Miller* test is fatal to a habeas petitioner's claim.")

From the appellants perspective, and perception, defense counsel was acting in concert with the presiding Judge and not representing the defendants best interests but the interests of the Judge to convict, not defend. Counsel presented no available theory in defense¹ and failed to move this case to Drug Court after having understood the chemical composition of Suboxone

¹ Diminished capacity defense, immunity from prosecution defense under Article 47 or entrapment.

from his extensive research in his Motion to Suppress. Defense Counsel should have made objections at specific times² that counsel didn't and should have moved to dismiss the charges after winning the Motion to Suppress. The charges could or should have been dismissed, changing the outcome of the proceedings. Had counsel faithfully defended the case, appellant would not have been compelled to enter a plea, but because of counsel's deficiency, appellant was at the mercy of the Court and scared not to, because of the past involvement³ with this Judge, appellant was at a disadvantage to proceed to trial with any possible defense of entrapment, or diminished capacity defense from voluntary intoxication of narcotics.

"In discussing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, we have held that "[o]ne who charges on appeal that his trial counsel was ineffective and that such resulted in his conviction, must prove the allegation by a preponderance of the evidence.'" Syllabus Point 22, *State v. Thomas*, 157 W. Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974)." Syl. Pt. 4, *State ex rel. Kitchen v. Painter*, 226 W. Va. 278, 700 S.E.2d 489 (2010). (*Lester v Plumley* No. 14-0548, 2015 WL 1129037)

Clearly, the evidence of a deficient performance by defense counsel meets the preponderance of evidence in this case and more so when he proceeded to induce a plea as instructed by the lower Court, not the prosecutor. Plea Hearing, **Pp. 7, lns. 4-24 and on Pp. 28, lns. 8-10** claiming an information had been properly filed, **without objection**⁴ by counsel. By use of the life recidivist, as well as rendering incorrect legal advice.⁵ Witnessing the cumulative errors by defense counsel resulted in appellant being compelled to plea from coercion, forcible compulsion and fear. Appellant designates the entire record for review of any plain or stated errors. Current

² No objection to retesting of the packages, no objection to the use of the recidivist information to induce a plea, no objection to two sentencing errors or for consecutive sentencing being disproportionate to the character and degree of the offense or having any proposed defense strategy prepared.

³ Judge Hatcher and the Prosecuting Attorney at the time, Paul Blake Jr. were reprimanded for their illegal conduct in kidnapping Dean Jr. under color of law and evidenced by the prosecutor's ransom note demanding that Jr. be returned for further, illegal prosecution of his father or that he would not be returned to his Mother Linda Bigel of Mt Airy, N.C. on his tenth Birthday, day of a sentencing hearing 9-9-94 (*State v D.E.G.*) Judicial Bias

⁴ Objection to the life recidivist information because there is no triggering/qualifying offense of violence.

⁵ Incorrect legal advice because there is no record of any recidivist having been filed against the appellant.

counsel may have been compromised as well having discussed the errors and counsel's refusal to recognized or argue these errors.

While the State is constitutionally obliged to appoint effective counsel to assist an indigent criminal defendant in his appeal, **once this has been done there rests on the indigent criminal defendant some responsibility to make known to the court his counsels inaction.** Rhodes v. Leverette, 160 W. Va. 781, 239 S.E.2d 136, 1977 W. Va. LEXIS 305 (W. Va. 1977).

Trial court properly applied W. Va. R. Crim. P. 35(a) to change a prisoner's sentence where the state filed a timely recidivist information based on his two prior felony convictions, he admitted the allegations in the information, and once that procedure was complete, the trial court had no authority but to impose a life sentence. State ex rel. Daye v. McBride, 222 W. Va. 17, 658 S.E. 2d 547, 2007 W. Va. LEXIS 61 (2007).

This holding presents the point that once the procedure for an information has been initiated, the Court must follow through with that statutory authority to enhance, which the Court failed to do. "...*the court is without authority to impose any sentence other than as prescribed in Code, §61-11-18.*" Daye supra. **Counsel lied to his client in this regard because no information was ever filed and the outcome of the case would have been different had appellant been told the truth with a proper defense counsel.**

Counsel's deficient performance was ineffective in defense of this case and the facts show as much on the record. Lastly, at the sentencing hearing, defense counsel failed to object to the illegal sentence for a number of reasons, an abuse of discretion for consecutive sentencing being disproportionate to the character and degree of the offense, being the chemical composition of Buprenorphine/Naloxone mixture used exclusively for the treatment of opiate addiction the improper application of the codes §60A-4-408 & §61-11-18 as being incorrectly applied and in excess of the statutory mandates as stated in Turner, supra. It should be ruled upon that there is sufficient evidence to sustain a ruling that the defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel.

II. Illegal sentence under West Virginia Code §60A-4-408.

West Virginia Codes §60A-4-408 and §61-11-18 are in contravention of the due process clauses of Article III, Section 10 of the *Constitution of West Virginia* or the Fourteenth Amendment to the *United States Constitution*. In;

Wells v. State ex rel. Miller, 237 W. Va. 731, 752, 791 S.E.2d 361, 382 (2016) ("This Court has long recognized that when both a general and a specific statute apply to a given set of facts, our well-established rules of statutory construction instruct that the specific statute governs.")

Even "where two statutes are in apparent conflict, the Court must, if reasonably possible, construe such statutes so as to give effect to each." Syl. pt. 4, in part, *Graney*. On the other hand, "when it is not reasonably possible to give effect to both statutes, the more specific statute will prevail." *Barber v. Camden Clark Mem'l Hosp. Corp.*, 240 W. Va. 663, 670, 815 S.E.2d 474, 481 (2018).

The enhancement requirement to enhance for a second drug conviction, which was the Court's intention, must be governed by the habitual criminal statute §61-11-18 for enhancing the minimum term only and only once in a multi-count conviction. (Sentencing Order), *Turner v. Holland*, 175 W. Va. 202, 332 S.E.2d 164, 1985 W. Va. LEXIS 490 (W. Va. 1985); *State v. Stover*, 179 W. Va. 338, 368 S.E.2d 308, 1988 W. Va. LEXIS 40 (W. Va. 1988).

But the procedure to enhance either statute is governed by §61-11-18 as stipulated by Daye, *supra*. "Moreover, the controlled substances enhancements did not take precedence over the recidivist enhancements as the statutes could be reconciled."

(The few select words complained of are emphasized below;)

a) Any person convicted of a second or subsequent offense under this chapter may be imprisoned for a term up to twice the term otherwise authorized. (U.C.S.A. §60A-4-408)

"in ascertaining the intent of the legislature, we must not base our determination on a single term or a few select words. Rather, we must give effect to the entire statute." *Ewing v Board of Educ. Of County of Summers*, 202 W.Va. 228, 241, 503 S.E. 2d. 541, 554 (1998), *State ex rel Graney v Sims* 144 W.Va. 72, 105 S.E. 2d. 886 (1958). However, "when one statute speaks to a subject in a general way and another deals with a part of the same subject in a more specific manner, the two should be harmonized, if possible, and where they

conflict, the latter prevails." *Virginia National Bank v Harris*, 220 Va. 336, 257 S.E. 2d 867, 870 (1979).

(§61-11-18 controls the enhancement procedures even when there is no information is filed.)

Syl. Pts 4 & 5 of *State ex rel. Daye v McBride* 222 W.Va. 17,

4. "The general rule of statutory construction requires that a specific statute be given precedence over a general statute relating to the same subject matter where the two cannot be reconciled." Syllabus Point 1, *UMWA by Trumka v. Kingdon*, 174 W. Va. 330, 325 S.E.2d 120 (1984).

5. When any person is convicted of an offense under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (*W.Va. Code*, Chapter 60A) and is subject to confinement in the state correctional facility therefore and it is further determined, as provided in *W. Va. Code*, 61-11-19 (1943), that such person has been before convicted in the United States of a crime or crimes, including crimes under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act (*W. Va. Code*, Chapter 60A), punishable by confinement in a penitentiary, the court shall sentence the person to confinement in the state correctional facility pursuant to the provisions of *W. Va. Code*, 61-11-18 (2000), notwithstanding (in spite of or despite) the second or subsequent offense provisions of *W. Va. Code*, 60A-4-408 (1971). (Emphasis added)

The authority under Syl. Pt. 5 of *Daye*, the Supreme Court directs that the procedure under §61-11-18 governs the procedure to enhance sentences with specific mandatory words that must be followed. Appellant should be sentenced to a two to five year sentence, not having the sentences run consecutively because the crime is not worthy of consecutive sentencing according to *Boso supra*. With alternative sentencing being granted.

Being in derogation of the common law, this section requires a strict construction in favor of the prisoner. *State ex rel. Ringer v. Boles*, 151 W. Va. 864, 157 S.E.2d 554, 1967 W. Va. LEXIS 132 (W. Va. 1967); *Justice v. Hedrick*, 177 W. Va. 53, 350 S.E.2d 565, 1986 W. Va. LEXIS 562 (W. Va. 1986); *State v. Stover*, 179 W. Va. 338, 368 S.E.2d 308, 1988 W. Va. LEXIS 40 (W. Va. 1988).

"Specific statutory language generally takes precedence over more general statutory provisions." Syl pt. 6 *Carvey v West Virginia State Board of Education* 206 W.Va. 720, 527 S.E. 2d. 831 (1999).

Under §61-11-18. Punishment for second or third offense of felony. "Whenever in such case the court imposes an indeterminate sentence, the minimum term shall be twice the term of years otherwise provided for under such sentence." (There's no discretionary language within these statements.)

Upon a determination that the statutory mandates have been met, is consistent with due process guarantees if the correct procedures were followed. West Virginia Codes §60A-4-408 and §61-11-18 are in contravention of the due process clauses of Article III, Section 10 of the Constitution of West Virginia or the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

The sentence of (5-25); one (1-5) to five year sentence consecutive to four (4) to twenty (20) years for two Suboxone strips is disproportionate to the character and degree of the offense,

There are two tests to determine whether a sentence is so disproportionate to a crime that it violates the constitution. The first is subjective and asks whether the sentence for the **particular crime shocks the conscience of the court and society**. If a sentence is so offensive that it cannot pass a societal and judicial sense of justice, the inquiry need not proceed further. When it cannot be said that a sentence shocks the conscience, a disproportionality challenge is guided by the objective test spelled out in Syllabus Point 5 of *Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher*, 166 W. Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205, 1981 W. Va. LEXIS 581 (1981). *State v. Cooper*, 172 W. Va. 266, 304 S.E.2d 851, 1983 W. Va. LEXIS 545 (W. Va. 1983).

(After careful inquiry, the sentence does shock the conscience of society.)

Illegal for two reasons, by law, it is in excess of statutory mandates because the **minimum term only** can be enhanced as directed by §61-11-18 with only one count being enhanced and in support is the Lewis holding below;

In ***State v Lewis 235 W.Va. 694 (2015)*** citing *Turner v. Holland*, 175 W. Va. 202, 203 332 S.E. 2d. 164 at 166; “Where two convictions are obtained against the defendant on the same day, they are treated as one conviction and **neither can be used to enhance the other** under our recidivist statute” **“only one enhancement is permissible”** Turner at 165.

(Two counts enhanced is an illegal sentence)

State v Blair No. 12-0407, 2013 WL 1632547,

“petitioner argues that the circuit court erred in doubling only the minimum term of incarceration and asserts that he could only have been sentenced to incarceration for one to five years or **two to ten** years.”

(The very question was answered in this case.)

The Court: “Upon our review, the Court finds **no error** in regard to either of petitioner's assignments of error.” The Supreme Court upheld the correct application of enhancement for **a two to five year sentence**.

[In conformity with State Code §61-11-18]

In the case of *State ex. Rel. Boso v Warmuth* 165 W.Va. 247 (1980) below, the case involved speedy trial rights and principles related to the IAD with some relationship to the recidivist statute. It is Appellants argument that consecutive sentencing is an abuse of discretion and disproportionate to the offense of distributing two Suboxone strips with Naloxone, the over-riding drug that neutralizes the effects of opioids in the body, and primarily used for the treatment of opioid addiction.

However, the policy underlying this gloss is consistent with the overall purpose of criminal law, namely, the rehabilitation of the felon. In this regard we recognize that rehabilitation can be accomplished only if the felon knows that after a reasonable and certain time he will be free to begin a new life. It was this very policy which underlay our holding in *State v. McMannis*, 161 W. Va. 437, 242 S.E.2d 571 {270 S.E.2d 634} (1978), where we determined that the recidivist statute is applicable only if a person has been previously convicted and served a term of imprisonment or probation, and that recidivist penalties cannot be imposed for crimes committed seriatim and prosecuted separately after apprehension, if the defendant had no previous opportunity to reflect upon his antisocial conduct and be rehabilitated. (Supporting **Turner**)

Furthermore, this rehabilitation policy has militated in favor of trial courts' giving concurrent sentences to all but the most "heinous offenders".

While rehabilitative value of imprisonment may be speculative, **the therapeutic value of the aging process has never been questioned**; consequently, it is reasonable to infer that getting older will make transgressors less anti-social. In order for rehabilitation or some combination of rehabilitation and getting older to make sense, it is only logical that transgressors should be shown the consideration of disposing of all of their transgressions simultaneously so that they shall not be compelled to endure their confinement with the constant specter of old cases destroying new lives. *State ex. Rel. Boso v Warmuth* 165 W.Va. 247 (1980)

What is the criminal culpability of the drug Suboxone containing Naloxone, which is used primarily for the treatment of opioid addiction and has an opiate antagonist that neutralizes the effects of opiate in the body. From the Eighth Edition of Blacks Law Dictionary (2004) the term culpability, Model Penal Code §2.02 says; "at the guilt phase, culpability is most often used to refer to the state of mind that the defendant must possess." With this in mind, considering the criminality of the offense, would consecutive sentencing be appropriate for the offense? Is the

substance, Suboxone in a category to be considered in the most "**heinous of offenses**" Boso Supra. No its not and was provided for the purpose it was made for, to treat heroin addiction. Consecutive sentencing would or should be considered an abuse of discretion in this instance.

Standard of Review

In Syllabus Point 1 of *Mathena v. Haines*, 219 W. Va. 417, 219 W. Va. 417, 633 S.E.2d 771(2006) this Court held: In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court in a habeas corpus action, we apply a three-prong standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review.

III. Irreconcilable conflict in repeal of statutes 108. "Repeal of repealing act"

Mindful of the need to construe pro se litigants' pleadings liberally,
Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652, 92 S. Ct. 594 (1972).

The chemical composition of the Buprenorphine and Naloxone mixture creates a new drug when Naloxone over-rides the base ingredient, being an opioid. Since Naloxone neutralizes the effects of opiates completely, it reclassifies Buprenorphine from an opiate base chemical because the opiate is neutralized and has no further force and effect as an opiate drug.

Repeal will not be implied unless there is irreconcilable conflict between two statutes. *SEC v Morgan, Lewis & Bockius* (1953, CA3 Pa) 209 F.2d 44

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