FILE COPY

DEC 30 2019

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA
NO. 18-0654**

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,
Respondent,

**DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE**

v.

DEAN E. GAMBLE, SR.,
Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the June 22, 2018, Order
Circuit Court of Fayette County, West Virginia
Case Nos. 18-F-19 and 18-F-20

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**LARA K. BISSETT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
W.Va. State Bar # 9102
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 558-5830
Fax: (304) 558-5833
lara.k.bissett@wvago.gov
*Counsel for Respondent***

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner approaches this appeal as though it were a direct appeal of his conviction and sentence. However, if that is the case, then the appeal has not been timely filed.⁵ The Sentencing and Commitment Order in this matter was entered on May 29, 2018. Petitioner did not file his notice of appeal until July 30, 2018, which is outside of the 30 days allowed under Rule 37(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. Accordingly, then, in order for Petitioner’s appeal to be timely, this matter must be treated as an appeal of the circuit court’s June 22, 2018, Order denying Petitioner’s motion for a reduction in sentence pursuant to Rule 35(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. In that case, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying

Armed Robbery (Illinois, 1976), Possession of Marijuana (Illinois, 1983), and Damage to Property (Illinois, 1987).

⁵ Petitioner admits that he did not properly preserve the sentencing error assigned in his brief. (Pet’r Br. 8).

Petitioner's Rule 35(b) motion for reduction of sentence, nor did it err in finding that Petitioner's extensive criminal history made him an unsuitable candidate for alternative sentencing.

Petitioner argues that if the sentencing error was not properly preserved, then it should be reviewed under the standard of plain error. The circuit court did not plainly err by separately enhancing Petitioner's two sentences for Delivery of a Controlled Substance, though, because West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 expressly provides for the enhancement of a sentence on a second or subsequent conviction under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. Petitioner's two convictions in this matter were his second and third convictions under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, and nothing in West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 prohibits the enhancement of two sentences for two convictions rendered on the same day. The circuit court's sentencing order was well within statutory limits; it did not adversely affect the substantial rights of Petitioner; nor did it seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

The remainder of the issues raised by Petitioner—biased and/or unethical behavior on the part of the circuit court, ineffective assistance of counsel, illegal and/or disproportionate sentence, conflict between statutes, involuntary and/or unlawfully induced guilty plea, and abuse of discretion in failing to grant Petitioner's motion for an alternative sentence—are not cognizable on appeal of the denial of a Rule 35(b) motion for reduction of sentence.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing the findings of fact and conclusions of law of a circuit court concerning an order on a motion made under Rule 35 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, we apply a three-pronged standard of review. We review the decision on the Rule 35 motion under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard; and

questions of law and interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a *de novo* review.” Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Head*, 198 W. Va. 298, 480 S.E.2d 507 (1996).

“To trigger application of the “plain error” doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.” Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114, (1995).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The circuit court did not plainly err by separately enhancing Petitioner’s two sentences for delivery of a controlled substance because West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 expressly provides for the enhancement of a sentence on a second or subsequent conviction under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act.

Petitioner argues that the language in West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act mirrors the language in West Virginia Code § 61-11-18, which is more commonly known as the recidivist statute. He asserts that this Court has previously held that, with regard to the recidivist statute, a trial court may not separately enhance multiple sentences for convictions rendered on the same date and in the same proceedings absent some express language. Petitioner argues that, like the recidivist statute, West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 lacks the express language that would allow a court to separately enhance multiple sentences for convictions rendered on the same date and in the same proceedings. *See Turner v. Holland*, 175 W.Va. 202, 332 S.E.2d 164 (1985). (Pet’r Br 4). Petitioner further argues that given the ambiguity in the statutes and case law, the circuit court committed plain error in enhancing both sentences. (Pet’r Br. 8). “To trigger application of the ‘plain error’ doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.” Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114, (1995).

First and foremost, this Court does not have jurisdiction to entertain this matter. As noted previously, a direct appeal of Petitioner's conviction and sentence would be untimely. Petitioner's only option to challenge his sentence at this point is an appeal of the denial of his motion for relief under Rule 35(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. In *State v. Marcum*, 238 W. Va. 26, 31, 792 S.E.2d 37, 42 (2016), this Court recognized that "it is abundantly clear that Rule 35(b) cannot be used as a vehicle to challenge a conviction or the validity of the sentence imposed by the circuit court, whether raised in the Rule 35(b) motion or in the appeal of the denial of the Rule 35(b) motion. In other words, challenges to convictions or the validity of sentences should be made through a timely, direct criminal appeal before this Court will have jurisdiction to consider the matter. See Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Davis v. Boles*, 151 W. Va. 221, 151 S.E.2d 110 (1966) ("An appellate court is without jurisdiction to entertain an appeal after the statutory appeal period has expired.')." To put a finer point on it, "Rule 35(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure only authorizes a reduction in sentence. Rule 35(b) is not a mechanism by which defendants may challenge their convictions and/or the validity of their sentencing." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Marcum*, 238 W. Va. 26, 792 S.E.2d 37 (2016). Accordingly, Petitioner cannot challenge the validity of his sentence at this point in the judicial process. He can only challenge whether the circuit court abused its discretion or erred in denying his Rule 35(b) motion.

"In reviewing the findings of fact and conclusions of law of a circuit court concerning an order on a motion made under Rule 35 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, we apply a three-pronged standard of review. We review the decision on the Rule 35 motion under an abuse of discretion standard; the underlying facts are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard; and questions of law and interpretations of statutes and rules are subject to a *de novo* review." Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Head*, 198 W. Va. 298, 480 S.E.2d 507 (1996). In the instant case, the circuit court did

not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion. The circuit court's decision was based on the uncontroverted facts that Petitioner has a lengthy and varied criminal record, which includes a prior conviction for delivery of a controlled substance. Therefore, the circuit court appropriately applied West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 when it enhanced Petitioner's sentences in his most recent convictions.

Nonetheless, Petitioner cannot meet the *Miller* test. Here, there was no "error," much less "plain" error. As Petitioner has pointed out, the statute has no express language addressing whether more than one sentence can be enhanced in the event of multiple convictions on the same day. Accordingly, the circuit court did not plainly err in enhancing both.

West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408, pursuant to which Petitioner's sentences were enhanced, provides that:

(a) Any person convicted of a second or subsequent offense under this chapter may be imprisoned for a term up to twice the term otherwise authorized, fined an amount up to twice that otherwise authorized, or both. When a term of imprisonment is doubled under section 406, such term of imprisonment shall not be further increased for such offense under this subsection (a), even though such term of imprisonment is for a second or subsequent offense.

(b) For purposes of this section, an offense is considered a second or subsequent offense, if, prior to his conviction of the offense, the offender has at any time been convicted under this chapter or under any statute of the United States or of any state relating to narcotic drugs, marihuana, depressant, stimulant, or hallucinogenic drugs.

(c) This section does not apply to offenses under section 401(c).

This Court has repeatedly stated that "[s]entences imposed by the trial court, if within statutory limits and if not based on some [im]permissible factor, are not subject to appellate review." Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Goodnight*, 169 W. Va. 366, 366, 287 S.E.2d 504, 505 (1982). This Court has made clear that it gives deference and discretion to the trial court in matters of sentencing:

Moreover, in *State v. Sugg*, 193 W.Va. 388, 406, 456 S.E.2d 469, 487 (1995), we held that “[a]s a general proposition, we will not disturb a sentence following a criminal conviction if it falls within the range of what is permitted under the statute.”

It is not the proper prerogative of this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on sentencing matters, so long as the appellant's sentence was within the statutory limits, was not based upon any impermissible factors, and did not violate constitutional principles.

State v. Georgius, 225 W. Va. 716, 722, 696 S.E.2d 18, 24 (2010). Indeed, Petitioner acknowledges that this Court has repeatedly upheld sentence enhancements pursuant to West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 where a defendant had multiple convictions rendered on the same date and in the same proceeding. (Pet’r Br 7).

Here, Petitioner has not shown that the circuit court relied upon any impermissible factor or that his sentence is not within statutory limits. On the contrary, the circuit court relied on Petitioner’s 42-year, 23-conviction criminal history, which led the court to the conclusion that “there is a substantial likelihood that he would commit more crimes in the future.” (Appx. R. 133-134). Accordingly, the circuit court denied Petitioner’s application for probation.⁶ (Appx. R. 134). That left open the question of sentence.

As part of the plea agreement, the State had agreed to not exercise its discretion to pursue a recidivist information pursuant to the recidivist statute. (Appx. R. 68). Nonetheless, because Petitioner’s criminal history included a May 29, 2007, conviction for Delivery of a Controlled Substance (cocaine), the circuit court determined that Petitioner’s sentences for both counts of Delivery of a Controlled Substance could and should be enhanced pursuant to West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408. (Appx. R. 132). While Petitioner argues that this was error, the sentence imposed

⁶ The circuit court relied on that same reasoning in denying Petitioner’s motion for reduction of sentence. (Appx. R. 136).

by the circuit court is clearly within statutory limits because there is no provision in West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 that indicates that only one sentence may be doubled under the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. Rather, the statute clearly states that any “second or subsequent offense” may be doubled. Petitioner’s two convictions for Delivery of a Controlled Substance represent “second or subsequent” offenses.

Petitioner relies on *Turner v. Holland*, 175 W.Va. 202, 332 S.E.2d 164 (1985), *State v. Stover*, 179 W. Va. 338, 368 S.E.2d 308 (1988), and *Hutchison v. Dietrich*, 183 W.Va. 25, 393 S.E.2d 663 (1990) to argue that the circuit court erroneously doubled both sentences. (Appx. R. 7). The cited cases are inapposite, though, as they address the general recidivist statute and not West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408. Petitioner argues that West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 and the recidivist statute are “two sides of the same coin.” (Pet’r Br. 6). However, this Court has long held that, although the Uniform Controlled Substances Act enhancement provision may somewhat mimic the general recidivist statute, the two statutes are *not* the same and should not be treated the same.

For instance, in *State ex rel. Daye v. McBride*, 222 W.Va. 17, 658 S.E.2d 547 (2007), this Court recognized several important distinctions between West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 and West Virginia Code § 61-11-18:

The Uniform Controlled Substances Act, W.Va.Code, 60A-4-408 (1971), provides a lesser, and discretionary, enhancement in any case involving a repeat drug offender. Furthermore, the judge, not the prosecuting attorney, makes the enhanced sentencing decision under this drug offense statute. The statute applies to both misdemeanor and felony offenses. It does not require the filing of an information by the prosecuting attorney.

In contrast, the general habitual offender statute is utilized only in cases where the totality of a criminal defendant's criminal history makes a mandatory sentence of life imprisonment an appropriate punishment. The procedural provisions of the general habitual criminal offender statute, W.Va.Code, 61-11-19 (1943), require

the filing of an information by the prosecuting attorney within certain time limits, and the defendant has a right to a jury trial with attendant procedural safeguards.

Daye, 222 W.Va. at 23, 658 S.E.2d at 553. “West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408, on the other hand, requires only the fact of a prior conviction prior to enhancement, and thus does not mandate additional procedural safeguards.” *State v. Rutherford*, 223 W. Va. 1, 6, 672 S.E.2d 137, 142 (2008). The *Rutherford* Court also explained that “the appellant concludes that a defendant whose sentence is enhanced under W.Va.Code § 60A-4-408 should have the same procedural safeguards as those required under W.Va.Code § 61-11-18. Again, we disagree.” 223 W. Va. at 5, 672 S.E.2d at 141. Moreover, this Court has noted that “[i]n light of the significant differences between W.Va.Code § 60A-4-408 and W.Va.Code § 61-11-18, this Court is not persuaded that because W.Va.Code § 61-11-18 contains procedural safeguards not included by the Legislature in W.Va.Code § 60A-4-408, that these procedural safeguards should be considered constitutional imperatives applicable to all instances of sentence enhancement.” *Rutherford*, 223 W. Va. at 6, 672 S.E.2d at 142; *see also State v. Brown*, 2018 WL 4944193 (W.Va. Oct. 12, 2018) (memorandum decision) (finding language of general recidivist statute, West Virginia Code § 61-11-18(a) “entirely inapplicable” to a case where the petitioner’s sentence was enhanced pursuant to West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408).

Furthermore, the legislative intent in West Virginia Code § 60A-4-408 was not to limit a circuit judge’s ability to double multiple sentences, or the statute would have read as such. This Court has discussed legislative intent in depth:

This Court has stated that “[t]he primary object in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the Legislature.” Syl. pt. 1, *Smith v. State Workmen's Comp. Comm'r*, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975). We then examine the precise words chosen by the Legislature in adopting the statute. “A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect.” Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Epperly*, 135 W.Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951). Accord *DeVane*

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